FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2021 1:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100453-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 82448-I)

RJ GAUDET & ASSOCIATES, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

VASILICA CECILIA ANITEI and CRISTIAN ANITEI, wife and husband,

Appellants.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Vasilica Cecilia Anitei and Cristian Anitei 7A 213th ST SE Bothell, WA 98021 425-299-2777

Pro Se Appellants

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A. Factual Background		
	B. Procedural History9		
V.	V. ARGUMENT 1		
	Standard of Review		
	A. The Decision that Defensive Counterclaims Claimed as Setoff are Barred by Statute of Limitations Contradicts a Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Decisions		
	 B. The Decision that Violations of the RPC Could Not Invalidate the Contract Contradicts Supreme Court Decisions and Has Been Recognized as an Issue of Significant Public Interest		
	C. The Court of Appeals Weighted Evidence and Erred by not Deferring the Fact Finding to Trial		
	D. There is no Published Decision in the State Courts Directly Addressing Violations of PSCA by Law Firms, an Issue Which Presents a Significant Public Interest		
VI.	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington State Cases Allis-Chalmers v. North Bonneville, 113 Wn. 2d 108 (Wash. 1989) 2, 16 Belli v. Shaw 98 Wn. 2d 569 (Wash. 1983) 20 Berg v. Hudesman Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn. 2d 658 (Wash. 1998) 14 Hizey v. Carpenter, Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs, 116 Wn. 2d 217 (Wash. 1991) 15 In re Eugster, 166 Wn. 2d 293, 324 n.27 (Wash. 2009) 17 J.R. Simplot Co. V. Vogt, LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC 331 P.3d 1147 (Wash. 2014)...... 19, 20 Marriage of Horner Mt. Park Homeowners v. Tydings, 125 Wn. 2d 337 (Wash. 1994) 14

Randy Reynolds & Assocs., Inc. v. Harmon
193 Wash. 2d 143 (Wash. 2018)
Sea-First v. Siebol,
64 Wn. App. 401 (Wash. Ct. App. 1992)
Simburg, Ketter, Sheppard Purdy v. Olshan, 109 Wn. App. 436, 448 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999)17
109 Wil. App. 450, 440 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999) 17
State v. Thomas
150 Wn. 2d 821 (Wash. 2004)
Thompson v. Seattle,
137 Wn. App. 1038 (Wash. Ct. App. 2007) 18
Valley/50th Avenue, LLC v. Stewart
159 Wn. 2d 736 (Wash. 2007)
Washington Statutes and Court Rules
Washington Statutes and Court Rules
Washington Statutes and Court Rules RCW 18.100
-
RCW 18.100
RCW 18.100
RCW 18.100
RCW 18.100 2, 11, 24 RCW 18.100.070 26 RCW 25.15.046 24, 26 RCW 25.15.046(1) 25
RCW 18.100
RCW 18.100 2, 11, 24 RCW 18.100.070 26 RCW 25.15.046 24, 26 RCW 25.15.046(1) 25
RCW 18.100 2, 11, 24 RCW 18.100.070 26 RCW 25.15.046 24, 26 RCW 25.15.046(1) 25 RCW 25.15.046(2) 25 RCW 25.15.046(3) 25
RCW 18.100 2, 11, 24 RCW 18.100.070 26 RCW 25.15.046 24, 26 RCW 25.15.046(1) 25 RCW 25.15.046(2) 25

RAP 13.4(b)(2)	
RAP 10.3(c)	
CR 12	9
RPC 1.5	
RPC 1.16	
RPC 5.5	
RPC 8.4	
RPC 7.1	

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The *pro se* petitioners are Vasilica Cecilia Anitei and her husband Cristian Anitei, appellants in the Court of Appeals and defendants in the trial court proceedings.

II. CITATIONS TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Aniteis respectfully request review of the unpublished case No. 82448-1-I, filed by Division One of the Court of Appeals on November 8, 2021, which invalidated the trial court's judgment against them but affirmed on the other decisions and remanded for trial. A copy of the original order has been attached in Appendix A. The motion to publish opinion filed by a non-party not affiliated with the Aniteis was denied by the Court of Appeals on November 19, 2021. The order has been attached in Appendix B and the motion in Appendix C.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Aniteis respectfully seek review of the following issues:

ISSUE ONE: Is review appropriate considering that the decision to dismiss the Aniteis' defensive counterclaims

,claimed as offset, on the basis of statute of limitations conflicts with the Supreme Court decision in *Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. North Bonneville¹* and other Court of Appeals' published opinions?

ISSUE TWO: Is review appropriate considering that the decision that violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) do not have the capacity to invalidate enforcement of a fee agreement conflicts with multiple Supreme Court opinions and represents an issue of substantial public interest?

ISSUE THREE: Is review appropriate considering that the Court of Appeals incorrectly weighted evidence about Gaudet's confirmation that \$30,000 allowed Ms. Anitei "to afford the firm's services", a practice that is in contradiction with Supreme Court mandates?

ISSUE FOUR: Is review appropriate of the decision that the contract is not void due to law firm's violations of the Professional Services Corporation Act (PSCA), chapter RCW 18.100 and considering that the question represents an issue of

¹ 113 Wn.2d 108, 112, 775 P.2d 953 (1989)

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

The law firm RJ Gaudet & Associates, LLC ("Gaudet") represented Ms. Anitei in an employment, disability discrimination and sexual harassment lawsuit against her exemployer that ended in September 2014 in a defense judgment. Before representation, Ms. Anitei came across the firm's website which stated that the firm had law offices in London, Hague and in downtown Seattle and provided services "with the most talented and courteous people in the world." CP 665 ¶ 9, CP 682. It turns out that attorney Robert J. Gaudet was the only solo practitioner and owner in the firm. Mr. Gaudet omitted to mention before or even after Ms. Anitei signed an engagement letter that he was in fact a solo practitioner with limited resources who could not even afford lodging in Seattle², that he was a permanent resident of El Paso, TX no even living in

² CP 684 ¶ 2, CP 631 ¶ 7

Washington State where the litigation was taking place³, that the firm had no physical law office in downtown Seattle⁴, that he did not have any trial experience⁵ and very limited experience in employment discrimination, disability or sexual harassment cases (CP 648 - 49; CP 617 – 18, Interog. No. 6). On the rare occasions when Mr. Gaudet bothered to travel to Seattle to meet with Ms. Anitei, they met at various locations, such as the county library, the Aniteis' home and other small offices belonging to Mr. Gaudet's acquaintances. CP at 639; CP at 678, ¶41.

On February 28, 2013, Ms. Anitei signed an engagement letter which was not hand signed by anyone in the firm. CP 497 - 500. Before signing the engagement letter, Ms. Anitei asked for a rough estimate of overall litigation, stating that she "would like to understand the magnitude of costs going forward and appreciate if you could provide a rough itemized list with potential legal charges to be expected." CP 482, ¶6. Respondent, through Mr. Gaudet, refused to provide such an

³ CP 678 ¶41; CP 795-796

⁴ CP 678 ¶ 41, CP 630 - 631

⁵ CP 675 ¶33

estimate to Ms. Anitei and instead offered her a "hybrid" arrangement with a "reduced" hourly fee and a contingency rate, "if the law firm's hourly pricing is unaffordable for you." *Id.* Also, Mr. Gaudet expressed concerns over Ms. Anitei's ability to afford litigation and asked whether her funds would be "sufficient to pay for fees and costs to prosecute the litigation beyond the filing of a complaint?". CP 483, ¶7.

Ms. Anitei responded to Mr. Gaudet's question that she had \$30,000 available for litigation, to which Mr. Gaudet replied that she would then be "able to afford my firm's legal services. I am attaching an engagement letter for you to sign." CP 483, ¶8. Afterwards, Ms. Anitei signed the letter based on the assurance from Mr. Gaudet's that \$30,000 would be enough to cover his firm's legal services. CP 483, ¶9.

Over the course of the following year, the firm sent four sporadic invoices amounting to a total of less than \$30,000. CP 397 - 398, ¶¶ 12, 14. Then on May 16, 2014, the firm sent invoice 128 for alleged charges going back five months in the amount of \$65,741. CP 502-527. The invoice included charges related to a huge and belated discovery that produced thousands of documents and more than 16,000 emails that Mr. Gaudet did not even bother to read. CP 671 ¶27; CP 722 – 742; CP 631, ¶¶ 8,9,10; CP 747, 757-756 ¶ 4,5. The Aniteis protested invoice 128 and reminded Respondent about the total amount of \$30,000 confirmed by Mr. Gaudet to be enough for the firm's legal services. CP 6 ¶3.15; CP 586 ¶8; CP 626. When Ms. Anitei could not pay the invoice, Mr. Gaudet started pressuring and intimidating her to agree to an amendment of the engagement letter and of doubling the contingency fee by threatening with withdrawal and refusing to perform work on the case. CP 674 ¶32: CP 487 ¶¶18, 19; CP 1329 – 1330 ¶3, 4; CP 1332, 1336.

A few weeks before scheduled trial, Respondent submitted a motion to withdraw that was denied. CP 631 ¶7. Then after Ms. Anitei borrowed thousands of dollars to cover the costs of trial at a time when she was on leave of absence, the Respondent did not disburse the funds to cover the costs from the IOLTA account, per Ms. Anitei's directions. CP 798 ¶ 4, 5; CP 805 - 820. Instead, Mr. Gaudet asked the Aniteis to use their credit cards to pay for various depositions and trial costs. CP 670-71, ¶ 25. And Gaudet even refused to pay the court reporter that transcribed Ms. Anitei's deposition for an invoice in the amount of approximately \$800. *Id* and CP 716 - 718.

As the trial date was approaching, Mr. Gaudet was trying to find other lawyers with trial experience. He kept mentioning that he had no trial experience, no funds to pay for lodging in Seattle and was literally afraid to proceed to trial. CP 487 ¶18; CP 578. Two weeks before trial, Respondent was finally able to contract with another lawyer to conduct the trial proceedings since Mr. Gaudet had no trial experience. CP 487 ¶19; CP 580. The jury returned an adverse judgment and no appeal was ever filed.

On November 11, 2014, Plaintiff submitted a final cumulative invoice in the total amount of \$130,726 with an alleged previous balance and additional fees of \$66,232 allegedly charged over a three-month period from May 4 to August 14, 2014. Ms. Anitei protested this invoice as well and disputed the entire alleged balance. CP at 487 ¶20; CP 583 -584.

Ultimately, Ms. Anitei was charged significantly more than \$30,000. She received invoices totaling more than \$180,000 until trial primarily for charges over an eight month period related to a huge and belated discovery⁶, for significant research and for extensive consultations with many lawyers⁷, and for drafting of various pleadings. Respondent filed a complaint, a response to a motion for partial summary judgment, three motions to compel discovery and sanctions, a motion for relief of late filing, a motion to withdraw and two continuance motion, all of the motions denied by the court except for a continuance⁸. And she did not gain any benefit from Gaudet's services. On the contrary, she ended up losing the lawsuit and even had a post-trial settlement offer obstructed by Gaudet. CP 676 – 677 ¶38; CP 782 - 787. She incurred significant emotional distress due to Gaudet's conduct, after had already been diagnosed with PTSD and intense anxiety. CP 679-680 ¶ 45. She was asked to perform significant work on the case together with her husband whereas Mr. Gaudet did not

⁶ Ms. Anitei already had more than 300 documents from EEOC investigation

⁷ CP 486 ¶¶ 15,16

⁸ CP 502 – 527; CP 555 – 576; CP 363 - 376

even bother to read any of the \$16,000 emails requested during discovery. CP 673 - 674 ¶30, 32; CP 762, 771. She had conversations recorded. CP 675 ¶ 34. And she was threatened with a lawsuit if she filed a grievance with the Washington State Bar Association. CP 677 ¶ 39.

B. Procedural History

More than five years after the Respondent submitted a final bill in November 2014, it filed in February 2020 a complaint in King County Superior Court to recover alleged fees. The complaint alleged breach of contract, promissory estoppel, fraud and account stated. CP 1 - 15. The Aniteis appeared *pro se* and objected via a CR 12 motion that they were served by mail and that Gaudet's action was not filed in their county of residence, Snohomish County. Their motion was denied by trial court and afterwards they also filed a motion for discretionary review # 81883-0-I on October 8, 2020, which was also denied by the Court of Appeals' Commissioner on February 16, 2021.

The Aniteis also answered the complaint and asserted 15 affirmative defenses, including failure to state a claim, statute

of limitations, duress, "unclean hands", set-off, equitable estoppel, assumptions of risk, failure to mitigate damages and void fee agreement due to RPC violations. CP 143 – 174. They also raised defensive counterclaims of breach of fiduciary duties, legal malpractice and violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act and clearly marked them as defenses. *Id* and CP 156.

The law firm quickly moved for summary judgment on October 8, 2020 seeking judgment for the entire amount of \$130,726 listed in the final invoice, plus 12% pre-judgment annual interest since 2014. CP 266 – 284. It asserted, among others arguments, that the Aniteis' defensive counterclaims were barred by the statute of limitations and that it was entitled to summary judgment on its breach of contract claim. *Id*.

The Aniteis responded to Gaudet's motion. CP 636 - 662. They also filed their own motion for summary judgment after the trial court continued the hearing to January 15, 2021. CP 454 - 480. They provided evidence that they disputed the entire amount of damages alleged by Plaintiff. CP 670 - 671 ¶25; CP 719 – 721. They asserted that genuine issues of

material facts exist regarding their affirmative defenses and defensive counterclaims and alleged that Gaudet was not entitled to summary judgment on breach of contract claim. CP 658 - 661.

In their summary judgment motion, the Aniteis argued that the law firm was not entitled to recover alleged damages (i) because Respondent confirmed in writing to Ms. Anitei before she signed the engagement letter that \$30,000 would had been enough for her "to be able to afford the firm's legal services" and then it charged her \$183,956 until trial; due to (ii) multiple RPC violations, including RPC 1.5.(a), which states that "a lawyer shall not make an agreement for, charge, or collect an unreasonable fee or an unreasonable amount for expenses"; (iii) and due to the fact that the firm was not incorporated as a professional limited liability company⁹, in violation of the Professional Services Corporation Act (PSCA), RCW 18.100. CP 464 - 480.

⁹ The first paragraph of the complaint falsely states that the firm is a professional limited liability company. The falsehood was later acknowledged by Gaudet in trial court pleadings after the Aniteis had discovered it.

Gaudet filed a response to Anitei's motion in which it finally conceded that the fraud and promissory estoppel claims were barred by the statute of limitations, after vigorously pleading all along that venue was proper in King County Superior Court based on the time-barred fraud claim. CP at 853. Plaintiff also raised the existence of genuine issues of material fact about the Aniteis' liability for alleged breach of contract. (CP 856; CP 861 – 862):

"Genuine issues of material fact thus remain in dispute relative to whether the Gaudet firm agreed to limit its hourly fees to \$30,000." CP at 862.

After the January 15, 2021 hearing, the trial court dismissed the promissory estoppel and fraud claims. CP 1404 – 1407. It also dismissed the Aniteis' defensive counterclaims claimed as setoff to Gaudet's alleged damages, denied the rest of Aniteis' summary judgment motion and granted judgment to Gaudet for a partial amount of \$40,395.79, plus interest, in the total amount of \$71,640.68. *Id.* At Gaudet's request, the trial court certified the judgment. CP 1441 – 1444; CP 1445 – 1448. The Aniteis filed an appeal with the Division One of the Court of Appeals on March 17, 2021. CP 1449. Less than three weeks

after the trial court decision and one day before Good Friday, on April 1, 2021, Gaudet filed a judgment lien with Snohomish County Clerk against the Aniteis' residential property. At Aniteis' request, Gaudet continues to refuse to remove the now void judgment lien.

On November 8, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued its decision. Opinion, Appendix A. The Court invalidated the judgment and concluded that the law firm was not entitled to partial summary judgment for damages of \$40,395.79 plus interest. The Court also affirmed on all the other counts from the trial court. The majority dismissed the Aniteis' defensive counterclaims as barred by statute of limitations and also refused to consider the Aniteis' setoff arguments raised in their reply brief to rebut Gaudet's response. In regard to the Aniteis' summary judgment motion, the majority concluded that RPC violations don't have the capacity to "invalidate the contract" and also concluded that the Aniteis did not provide "persuasive authority that the law firm's organization as a limited liability corporation precludes summary judgment" with regard to PSCA violations. On the issue of the \$30,000 "agreement", as

identified by Gaudet, the Court concluded that there were no genuine issues of material fact.

On November 10, 2021, a non-party filed a Motion to Publish decision with the Court, arguing that the decision that the Aniteis' defensive counterclaims are barred by the statute of limitations is in contradiction with a Supreme Court decision and other Court of Appeals decisions. Appendix B. The motion was denied by the Court on November 19, 2021 and the order did not provide reasoning. Appendix C. The Aniteis filed this petition.

V. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews a summary judgment order de novo. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn. 2d 658, 663 (Wash. 1998). "This standard of review is consistent with the requirement that evidence and inferences are viewed in favor of the nonmoving party, *Lamon*, 91 Wn.2d at 349 (citing *Morris*, 83 Wn.2d at 494-95), and the standard of review is consistent with the requirement that the appellate court conduct the same inquiry as the trial court. *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n*, 125 Wn.2d at 341". *Id.* Additionally, "summary judgment is properly granted when the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 220, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991)." *Id.*

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review is accepted by this Court (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals and (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A. The Decision that Defensive Counterclaims Claimed as Setoff are Barred by Statute of Limitations Contradicts a Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Decisions

The Court of Appeals decided that the defensive counterclaims pleaded as defenses and setoff by the Aniteis were barred by the statute of limitations. Appx. A, pp 7 - 8. The decision directly contradicts the Supreme Court decision in Allis-Chalmers v. North Bonneville, 113 Wn. 2d 108, 112

(Wash. 1989), in which the Court stated that "statutes of limitations never run against defenses arising out of the transactions sued upon." In reaching its decision, Division One of the Court of Appeals cited to *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Vogt*, 93 Wn.2d 122, 126, 605 P.2d 1267 (1980), stating that "a party may only assert counterclaims that are not barred by the statute of limitations when the action is commenced." But *J.R. Simplot* is distinguishable because the Aniteis pleaded defensive counterclaims as defenses, not affirmative counterclaims. In their Answer, under the Counterclaims section, the Aniteis clearly stated this intent:

> "The claims raised in this section are arising out of the transactions sued upon by Plaintiff and are asserted by necessity as defenses and set-offs to the Plaintiff's claims. This is because Plaintiff has waited to bring this action until statute of limitations has run out on any affirmative actions that could have reasonably been pursued by the Defendants." CP at 156.

Additionally, their response to Gaudet's summary judgment motion clearly identifies "defensive counterclaims raised by Defendants such as breach of fiduciary duties, negligence and consumer protection claimed as an offset to Plaintiff's claims." CP at 637. In their Reply Brief filed in the Court of Appeals, the Anitei responded to the Gaudet's Respondent Brief with a dedicated section entitled "The Aniteis Did Not Request Affirmative Relief on Their Defensive Counterclaims Which Are Not Barred by the Statute of Limitations." Appellants' Reply Brief, p. 7. It appears that the Court of Appeals also refused to consider the arguments expressed by the Aniteis in their reply as a response to Gaudet's incorrect claim that the Aniteis raised affirmative counterclaims. The Aniteis did not raise new issues, they only responded to Gaudet's assertion from the responsive brief, conformal to RAP 10.3(c), which states that the reply brief "should be limited to a response to the issues in the brief to which the reply brief is directed."" In re *Eugster*, 166 Wn. 2d 293, 324 n.27 (Wash. 2009)

The decision to dismiss the defensive counterclaims also contradicts other published decisions reached by the Division One Court of Appeals. In *Simburg, Ketter, Sheppard Purdy v. Olshan*, 109 Wn. App. 436, 448 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999), a published case mentioned by the Aniteis in their response to the

Gaudet's summary judgment motion and their Reply Brief in appellate court, the Division One Court concluded:

"By running the statute of limitations, the attorney may preclude the client from raising a legal malpractice defense to a claim for undeserved fees. The statute of limitations and its discovery rule do not bar, by necessity, a defense of legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duties to an accord for attorney fees. "

In published *Thompson v. Seattle*, 137 Wn. App. 1038 (Wash. Ct. App. 2007) opinion, the Division One Court again concluded that "statutes of limitations do not run against defenses arising out of the transaction sued upon" (citing Seattle First Nat' I Bank v. Siebol, 64 Wn. App. 401, 407, 824 P.2d 1252 (1992)). It further concluded that the defendant's right to seek an offset and any defenses were not barred by the statute of limitations. *Id*.

The Division One Court of Appeals decision is clearly contrary to the binding precedents of its own published opinions and the Supreme Court decisions therefore review should be accepted and decision reversed.

B. The Decision that Violations of the RPC Could Not Invalidate the Contract Contradicts Supreme Court Decisions and Has Been Recognized as an Issue of Significant Public Interest

The Court of Appeals decided in its opinion that any RPC violations would not "invalidate the contract". Appx. A, pp. 12 - 13. In citing to a narrow reference from-*Hizey v*. *Carpenter*, 119 Wash.2d 251, 258, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) ("unquestionably, the RPCs do not purport to set a standard for civil liability") quoted in *LK Operating*, *LLC v. Collection* Grp., LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 90, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014), the Court concluded that "there is a distinction between such violations and the standards for civil liability." But the Supreme Court in *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC, supra,* clearly expressed that the issue before the Court, rescission of a contract based on violation of RPC 1.7 and 1.8, was "not controlled by *Hizey*, and the reasoning in *Hizey* does not apply here." *Hizey* only established that the RPCs do not set the professional standard of care in a legal negligence action. In fact, the Supreme Court reiterated that violations of the RPCs

may render that contract unenforceable, which is the same issue presented in this petition for review:

"We have previously and repeatedly held that violations of the RPCs or the former Code of Professional Responsibility in the formation of a contract may render that contract unenforceable as violative of public policy. *E.g., Valley/50th Ave.*, 159 Wash.2d at 743, 153 P.3d 186; *Belli v. Shaw*,98 Wash.2d 569, 578, 657 P.2d 315 (1983). *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC*, 331 P.3d 1147, 1163 (Wash. 2014)

In stating the public interest nature of such violations, the Court further added that "the RPCs are clearly directed at promoting the public good and preventing public injury." *Id*.

It is also important to note that the Aniteis outlined specific facts that represent violations of RPCs. Just to mention a few, Gaudet violated RPC 1.5 by using a fee agreement with a combined hourly and contingency basis to charge her a staggering amount of \$183,596 up to trial, knowing full well that Ms. Anitei had only \$30,000 available for litigation; by failing to disclose provisions indicating block billing practices; by consulting with many lawyers and billing client; charging of "estimated" not actual costs, by failing to disclose the lack of experience, or that the Aniteis would be required to work

hundreds of hours on the case, read more than 16,000 emails and analyze discovery. Opening Brief, pp. 47 - 48. CP 651 – 654; CP 471 – 476.

The Anitei also identified violations of RPC 1.16 regarding the termination clause in the engagement letter, RPC 5.5 for practicing law in violation of a regulation, RPC 8.4 for misrepresentation, RPC 7.1 related to false or misleading advertising and communication about firm's services because it was not incorporated as a legal business entity providing legal services. *Id* and CP 475, 468.

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