# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/4/2022 2:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100453-2

# THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

## RJ GAUDET & ASSOCIATES, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondent,

VS.

# VASILICA CECILIA ANITEI and CRISTIAN ANITEI, Wife and Husband,

Petitioners.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW, INCLUDING CONTINGENT PETITION FOR CROSS-REVIEW

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 Waid Law Office, PLLC 5400 California Ave. SW, Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Telephone: 206-388-1926

Email: bjwaid@waidlawoffice.com

Attorney for Respondent

###

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

### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition for Review Fails to Satisfy the Standards for Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

The Petition for Review fails to meet any of the standards for review under RAP 13.4(b) due to the Anitei's fundamental misunderstanding of the trial court and Division I decisions.

For example, the trial court did *not* reject the Anitei's

affirmative defense of setoff in contravention of this Court's jurisprudence; instead, the trial court and Division I rejected the Anitei's setoff defense on its merits, due to the lack of evidence to establish a genuine issue of material fact in dispute relative to legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, and the purported violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. Appx. F. The Petition thus fails to demonstrate a conflict between the lower court decisions and this Court's prior decisions relative to the availability of setoff on a claim otherwise barred by the statute of limitations, and thus fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The lower courts also acknowledged that violations of the RPC's *could* render an attorney's fee agreement unenforceable but held that none of the alleged (and unproven) RPC violations alleged by the Aniteis would potentially warrant complete invalidation of the fee agreement. The Petition thus fails to demonstrate any conflict between the Division I opinion

and other decisions by the Courts of Appeal as required by RAP 13.4(b)(2). The same deficiency exists relative to the Anitei's assertion that Division I had in some manner "weighed" the evidence on summary judgment when no such purported error had occurred.

And, finally, whether a law firm formed as a limited liability company under Washington law may recover its unpaid fees and reimbursable expenses unless formed as a "professional services corporation," can scarcely qualify as a matter of "substantial public interest" considering that the Aniteis have not cited a single case which adopted that position.

More significantly, however, CR 9(a) required that the Aniteis raise any challenge to the Gaudet firm's capacity to sue in their Answer. *Bus. Serv. of Am. II, Inc. v. WaferTech, LLC*, 188 Wn.2d 846, 851, 403 P.3d 836 (2017)(affirming waiver of objection to capacity). Here, the Aniteis expressly admitted the Gaudet Firm's capacity to bring this lawsuit in their Answer. CP 144 ¶1.0. They thus waived their lack of capacity defense

as a matter of law.

In addition, RCW 25.15.006 defines a "limited liability company" or "domestic limited liability company" as "a limited liability company having one or more members or transferees that is formed under this chapter." The Aniteis do not dispute the fact that the Gaudet Firm constitutes an entity as a "limited liability company," but insist that a limited liability company cannot contract to provide professional services unless it is also registered as a "professional limited liability company."

The Aniteis reason that if Plaintiff had been organized as a "professional limited liability company, Mr. Anitei would have been required to maintain the amount of at least one million dollars (\$1,000,000) in professional liability insurance. Pet., pp. 24-25.8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Aniteis assert that RJ Gaudet & Associates does not maintain business liability insurance. However, the Anitei's Interrogatory no. 8 asked the irrelevant question of whether RJ Gaudet & Associates had malpractice insurance between January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2014. Because malpractice insurance policies are "claims made" policies, any such policy would not have provided coverage for Anitei's claims asserted for the first time in 2019.

The Aniteis are mistaken for two reasons: (1) Washington does *not* require attorneys to maintain \$1,000,000 in malpractice insurance, and; (2) RCW 25.15.046(3) merely provides that, in the absence of such insurance, "then the limited liability company's members are personally liable to the extent that, had the insurance, bond, or other evidence of responsibility been maintained, it would have covered the liability in question." Accordingly, RCW 25.046(3) does not require any LLC or professional services corporation to maintain professional liability insurance and attorneys always remain liable for the consequences of their own negligence regardless of whether practicing as an LLC, or PLLC, or a solo practitioner, or otherwise. RCW 18.100.070. Therefore, the Anite is are clearly mistaken in their premise that Gaudet would in any was "escape professional liability and accountability in front of their clients." Indeed, the Aniteis proved the error in their logic when they counterclaimed against Mr. Gaudet,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Petition for Review, p. 25.

personally, in this case.<sup>10</sup> Therefore, the Aniteis could not have suffered harm regardless of whether the Gaudet Firm was organized as an "LLC" rather than a "PLLC."

Moreover, the Anitei's cited authority does *not* support their theory that a limited liability company cannot contract to provide legal services. For example, *Fallahzadeh v*. *Ghorbanian*, 119 Wn. App. 596, 82 P.3d 684 (2004) merely held that a non-dentist could not enforce his financial interest in a partnership for the practice of dentistry. Here, the Gaudet Firm is *not* attempting to enforce a partnership agreement with a non-lawyer; nor was RJ Gaudet in any manner prohibited from practicing law in Washington.

Thus, regardless of whether a Washington attorney can practice as an "LLC" rather than a P.S. or PLLC, "Washington courts have consistently held that failure to comply with a registration statute does not render a contract void." *Energy Nw. v. SPX* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The trial court dismissed the Anitei's claims against Mr. Gaudet, personally, a ruling to which the Aniteis did *not* assign error in either Division I or their Petition in this Court.

Heat Transfer, Inc., 2015 WL 4604204 \*2 (E.D. Wash. 07/30/2015)[citations omitted]. Thus, "[a] contract that violates a statutory regulation of business is not void unless made so by the statute. Where a statute imposes a penalty for failure to comply with statutory requirements, the penalty so fixed is exclusive of any other." *Id., quoting, Yakima Lodge No. 53, K. P. v. Schneider,* 173 Wash. 639, 643, 24 P.2d 103 (1933).

For these reasons, the Aniteis have not established a substantial public interest warranting review of this case.

B. If the Court Grants Review, the Court Should Also Review the One Issue on which Division I Reversed to Further Judicial Efficiency.

Division I reversed the trial court determination that \$40,395.79 of the Gaudet Firm's account was undisputed, holding that "there is evidence that the Aniteis disputed the reasonableness of fees and expenses in the prior invoices" such that "summary judgment was improper" (p. 9) and "the disputes were not merely vague and general protests." (p. 11).

However, "[a] written account becomes an account stated if the other party to the transaction *acquiesces* in its correctness." *Parrott Mechanical, Inc. v. Rude,* 118 Wn. App. 859, 865, 78 P.3d 1026 (2005). Accordingly, "[a]ssent may be implied from failure to object within a reasonable time." *Id.*<sup>11</sup>

Acquiescence is evaluated based on objective facts. Thus, "payment together with a failure to objectively manifest either protest or an intent to negotiate the sum at some future time, does establish an account stated." Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Roza Irrigation Dist., 124 Wn.2d 312, 316 n. 1, 877 P.2d 1283 (1994)(reinstating trial court summary judgment on account stated)(emphasis added).

The trial court judgment of \$40,395.79 was based upon charges in Invoices 128 and 130 that the Aniteis never disputed and toward which they made payments.<sup>12</sup> There is nothing in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Six years is *not* a "reasonable time."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP1406-1407; RP (Jan. 15, 2021), pp. 9-11 ("there are undisputed invoices ... the prior invoices [before Invoice 131] are not disputed"), 22 ("\$40,395.79 is undisputed and that is an agreed-upon amount that is due to the plaintiff"); CP 873-877

the record to show the Aniteis specifically disputed any charges in Invoices 128 or 130, despite having been given an opportunity to do so [CP 872-877] until six years later when they defended themselves against this lawsuit. Indeed, after issuing Invoice 128, Gaudet asked the Aniteis whether they contested any charges, and the Aniteis said "no." CP 874. This was memorialized in an email in which Gaudet wrote,

Invoice 128 asks for payment of legitimate costs and fees. Cecilia has not challenged any of the items billed. During our phone conversation of May 17, 2014, with the both of you, I specifically asked whether there were any problems with the items or hours billed for and you said there were not.<sup>13</sup>

Division I also failed to identify any email, letter, or other document that reflects that the Aniteis specifically protested those charges.

<sup>(</sup>explaining Aniteis had never disputed Invoice 128; said they did not dispute Invoice 128, and made payments on Invoice 128 including \$10,000 and \$5,750).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 1010.

Not only did the Aniteis fail to contest Invoices 128 and 130,<sup>14</sup> but they admitted liability and made payments towards these Invoices.<sup>15</sup> On May 24, 2014, Mr. Anitei emailed that he had made a payment of \$10,000 two days earlier to pay "\$65,000" in charges (CP 626) for Invoice 128 which was issued on May 16 in the amount of \$65,741.69. CP 980. A Wells Fargo receipt and account statement confirm the \$10,000 deposit. CP 805-806, 1016. The Wells Fargo statement also shows \$5,750 transferred to the Gaudet Firm in May 2014 as "Invoice 128 Partial Payment." CP 805-806. By email, Mr. Gaudet confirmed receipt of the Aniteis' payments of \$5,750

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 872-877 ("Engagement Letter expressly states they must contest any charges in writing within one week ...The Aniteis have never followed this rule to contest any charge").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 874-875 ("Aniteis made partial payments on Invoice 128. I memorialized these payments in an email to them on May 25, 2014. ... Instead [sic] of contesting these charges, the Aniteis authorized me to withdraw \$5,750 held in an IOLTA account as partial payment towards the \$65,741.69 due in Invoice 128. ... On May 22, 2014, the Aniteis deposited \$10,000 which was received into my firm's IOLTA account on May 25, 2014").

and \$10,000 toward Invoice 128 and noted a remaining balance of \$49,991.69. CP 875, 1007.

The record thus shows that the Aniteis did not dispute any charges with respect to Invoice 128. The Aniteis also do not dispute that they paid \$10,000 towards Invoice 128 or authorized the Gaudet Firm to withdraw \$5,750 from the IOLTA account to pay for Invoice 128. Division I thus appears to have overlooked the Aniteis' failure to dispute Invoice 128 and their payments on Invoice 128. If the Aniteis had wanted to contest Invoices 128 and 130, they could have disputed the charges before paying \$10,000 and \$5,750 and they could have responded to Gaudet's emails stating they had not contested charges.

Division I thus erred when it reversed the trial court summary judgment relative to the undisputed portion of the amount due the Gaudet Firm. In the interest of judicial efficiency, this Court should therefore grant review of this additional issue if the Court grants review of the Anitei's

Petition.

VI. Conclusion

For these reasons, Respondent RJ Gaudet & Associates,

LLC requests that the Court deny the Anitei's Petition for

Review. Respondent further requests that, if the Court grants

review of the Petition for Review, that it also grant review of

that portion of the underlying Division I opinion which reversed

the trial court grant of partial summary judgment in its favor.

VII. RAP 18.17 Certification

This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of

RAP 18.17 because this brief contains 3,703 words, which

is less than the 5,000-word limitation.